### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

GERALD SILVA, etc.,

Petitioner,

vs.

SOUTHWEST FLORIDA BLOOD BANK, INC.,

Respondent.

JOHN SMITH, et ux, etc.,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 78-012

CASE NO. 77,980

SOUTHWEST FLORIDA BLOOD BANK, INC.,

Respondent.

ON CERTIFIED CONFLICT FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER SILVA'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

F. RONALD FRALEY, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 026113 FRALEY & FRALEY 501 E. Kennedy, Suite 1002 Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 229-8300

-and

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Gerald Silva, individually and as personal representative of the Estate of Anne Marie N. Silva, deceased, the plaintiff below, is referred to as "Mr. Silva."

Respondent, Southwest Florida Blood Bank, Inc., is referred to as "Southwest."

References to the record on appeal are designated by the prefix "R."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Gerald Silva's wife died from AIDS after receiving a contaminated blood product provided by Southwest Florida Blood Bank. The trial court dismissed his suit, holding the medical malpractice statute of limitations, rather than the general negligence limitations statute, applied to Southwest. The Second District affirmed, but certified its decision as being in conflict with a decision of the Third District.

#### A. Mr. Silva's Action.

Anne Marie Silva and her husband, Gerald, were looking forward to the birth of their child in the summer of 1985 (R 88). Mrs. Silva's doctor told her that as a result of the birthing process, she would require transfusions of cryoprecipitate, a by-product made from blood (R 88). Her doctors relayed Southwest's assurances that its blood supply was safe and free from the HIV (AIDS

producing) virus, because of the testing procedures Southwest used (R 88).

Mrs. Silva gave birth in August, 1985, and received multiple units of cryoprecipitate furnished by Southwest (R 89). Mrs. Silva tested negative for the HIV virus later in 1985, but then tested positive at the end of 1986 (R 89). In April 1989, Mrs. Silva began to become ill and was diagnosed as having AIDS, or acquired immune deficiency syndrome. (R 89) She died in January 1990. (R 89)

Mr. and Mrs. Silva initiated this action against Southwest in December of 1989 (R 50). Mr. Silva was substituted as the personal representative after his wife's death (R 68). The complaint was amended until the second amended complaint alleged three counts against Southwest, including negligence and breach of Southwest's warranty regarding the representations that its blood by-product was safe (R 89, 90). Mr. Silva alleged (and Southwest has not denied) that testing procedures were available to Southwest to test its blood products for the HIV virus by the summer of 1985 (R 90).

HIV is the acronym for "human immunodeficiency virus." Once a person is infected with the virus it may produce no symptoms for some time (it may not even be detected by the standard (antibody) HIV test for many months). The HIV virus can eventually produce AIDS, or "acquired immune deficiency syndrome." Scientific American, "What Science Knows About AIDS," p. 90, 92, 94 (Oct. 1988) ("Scientific American"); Silva at A 4. "It is now estimated that about half of the people infected with HIV will develop AIDS in 10 years." Scientific American at p. 80.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A test to detect the HIV virus in blood became generally available in March, 1985 when the Food and Drug Administration licensed what is known as the HTLV-III ELISA test. <u>E.g. Kirkendall v. Harbor Insurance Company</u>, 887 F.2d 857, 860 (8th Cir. 1989); Jenner, "Transfusion-Associated AIDS Cases," <u>Trial</u> 30 (May 1990).

Southwest moved to dismiss Mr. Silva's action based on the statute of limitations, arguing Southwest was entitled to rely on the medical malpractice statute of limitations, §95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1989). Southwest argued it was a "provider of health care" as defined in the statute, and if it was not, it was in privity with a health care provider (R 55-56).

The trial court granted Mr. Silva's motion for leave to file his second amended complaint and then dismissed the complaint in its entirety, based on its finding Southwest was a health care provider and thus, in the court's view, entitled to the medical malpractice statute of limitations (R 99-101). Mr. Silva appealed (R 103).

The Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the dismissal in Silva v. Southwest Florida Blood Bank, Inc., 578 So.2d 503 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) (Hereafter referred to as "Silva" and included in the appendix at A 3-6). The court agreed that the medical malpractice statute of limitations applied to Southwest. The court acknowledged its decision conflicted with <u>Durden v. American Hospital Supply Corporation</u>, 375 So.2d 1096 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), cert. denied, 386 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1980), which had refused to apply the medical malpractice limitations statute to an action by a donor against a blood bank (A 6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Southwest also argued that Silva had to comply with the medical malpractice presuit procedures, but has conceded that if section 95.11(4)(b) does not apply, then AIDS plaintiffs need not comply with those procedures (Smith brief at p. 33)

Mr. Silva filed his notice invoking this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. This Court's order of June 4, 1991 set a briefing schedule and indicated the Court had postponed its decision on jurisdiction.

#### B. The Smith Action

In <u>Smith v. Southwest Florida Blood Bank, Inc.</u>, 578 So.2d 501 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), the same panel of the Second District affirmed the dismissal of the Smiths' action for the AIDS contaminated cryoprecipitate received by their son, relying on <u>Silva</u> (Hereafter "<u>Smith</u>," included at A 1-2)). The Smiths have also invoked the Court's discretionary jurisdiction and their action is pending as Case No. 78,012.

In its order of June 26, 1991, this Court consolidated the Silva and Smith actions.

#### **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. WHETHER THE MEDICAL MALPRACTICE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

  APPLIES TO A BLOOD BANK THAT SELLS HIV-CONTAMINATED BLOOD

  PRODUCTS?
  - A. WHETHER THE CLAIM AGAINST A BLOOD BANK WHICH SELLS HIVCONTAMINATED BLOOD PRODUCT IS A CLAIM FOR "DIAGNOSIS,
    TREATMENT, OR CARE BY ANY PROVIDER OF HEALTH CARE?"
  - B. WHETHER THE BLOOD BANK IS IN "PRIVITY" WITH A PROVIDER OF HEALTH CARE?
- II. WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION TO TAKE JURISDICTION IN THIS CASE?

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

"Provider of health care" is not defined in the medical malpractice limitations statute, §95.11(4)(b). Southwest relies on a repealed statute passed <u>after</u> the limitations statute. The legislature would have to have looked into the future to have intended the meaning Southwest urges. The legislative background of the limitations statute indicates it did not contemplate blood banks.

The only out-of-state appellate decision which addresses a statute worded like Florida's statute of limitations holds blood banks are not health care providers.

Even if Southwest were a health care provider, it did not provide medical "diagnosis, treatment or care" to Mrs. Silva as required by §95.11(4)(b). The blood shield statute's description of providing blood as a "medical service," even if applicable outside of a warranties context, does not insert "medical services" into the more narrowly worded, specific services covered by §95.11(4)(b).

Southwest is not in privity with a provider of health care. The "privity" required under §95.11(4)(b), described by a decision of this Court, is not satisfied by Southwest in this case.

Based on the foregoing, the medical malpractice limitations statute should not control. Mr. Silva's action should be governed by the general negligence statute of limitations found at §95.11(3)(a), Florida Statutes (1989).

#### ARGUMENT

- I. THE MEDICAL MALPRACTICE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

  DOES NOT APPLY TO A BLOOD BANK THAT SELLS HIV
  CONTAMINATED BLOOD PRODUCTS.
- A. THE CLAIM AGAINST A BLOOD BANK WHICH SELLS HIVCONTAMINATED BLOOD PRODUCT IS NOT A CLAIM FOR "DIAGNOSIS,
  TREATMENT, OR CARE BY ANY PROVIDER OF HEALTH CARE."
- 1. The medical malpractice statute of limitations: Section 95.11(4)(b).

Southwest persuaded the Second District this action was properly dismissed under Section 95.11 (4)(b). To be entitled to rely on this limitations statute, Southwest must satisfy both of two requirements under the statute. First, Southwest must show it is a provider of health care as contemplated by that particular statute. Second, it must show Mrs. Silva's injury arose out of medical "diagnosis, treatment or care by" Southwest.

Section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1989) provides in pertinent part that an action for medical malpractice must be commenced two years from discovery. It then specifies the scope of the statute by defining an action for medical malpractice:<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The medical malpractice statute of limitations also contains a statute of repose. Because there is often a long latency period before the HIV virus becomes detectible (and an even longer period until there is an actual illness with symptoms), if this statute were held to apply to blood banks, the limitations period could run before the infected victim knows he or she has a cause of action. See the Amicus Brief filed on behalf of Mr. Doe.

An "action for medical malpractice" is defined as a claim in tort or in contract for damages because of the death, injury, or monetary loss to any person arising out of any medical, dental, or surgical <u>diagnosis</u>, <u>treatment</u>, or care by any provider of health care. The limitation of actions within this subsection shall be limited to the health care provider and persons in privity with the provider of health care. (emphasis added).

Mr. Silva did not bring an action against any provider of health care as contemplated in Section 95.11(4)(b). Even if Southwest were a provider of health care, it did not provide any diagnosis, treatment or care to Mrs. Silva.

# 2. Southwest is not a provider of health care under §95.11(4)(b).

The Second District concluded Southwest was a "provider of health care" within Section 95.11(4)(b). Silva at A 4. It appeared to offer two reasons.

First, the court observed that Mr. Silva's second amended complaint sought tort damages for negligence and contract damages for breach of implied warranties (A 4). The court did not explain how this made Silva's complaint an action for medical malpractice. A typical products liability claim asserting these alternative

<sup>(</sup>No. 4 cont.) Although not an issue on this appeal, if the medical malpractice statute were to apply, the common delay between a positive test for the virus and the actual onset of illness could present a question as to which event commenced the running of the statute. See Scientific American at p. 80; Newsweek "AIDS: The Next Ten Years," p.20 (June 25, 1990) ("An estimated 1 million Americans are infected with the virus -- and by the end of the decade, most of those people will be sick."); Med. Liab. Rptr. Vol. 12, No.5, p.99 (May, 1990) (noting conflict in decisions as to whether AIDS related illness or positive HIV test triggers running of statute).

theories of recovery would not be governed by the medical malpractice limitations statute. In sum, this "reason" was a non-sequitur.

Second, the court concluded the legislature meant to define "provider of health care" in Section 95.11(4)(b) by borrowing the definition of "health care provider" found in §766.102, Florida Statutes (1989), formerly located at §768.45, Florida (1987). (A 4-5; this was urged by Southwest, R 9, 55). Section 766.102 defines "health care provider" by reference to §768.50(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1985), which was a collateral source statute, now repealed. Nothing in §95.11(4)(b) suggests the repealed definition from §766.102 was ever intended.

The repealed definition in §768.50 was contained in a subsection which began with the restriction "[f]or purposes of this section" (emphasis added). The legislature in adopting §766.102 implicitly recognized the need for a specific reference to such a restricted definition appearing in a different statutory section. Hence, the specific reference in §766.102 to §768.50(2)(b). Section 95.11(4)(b) does contain such a specific reference adopting the definition in §768.50(2)(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> By contrast, other sections of the medical malpractice statute define "health care provider" so as not to include blood banks. See §766.101(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1989); §766.105(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1989).

The Second District assumed that the repeal of the referenced statute did not affect the remaining statute, but this is not always the case. See Reino v. State, 352 So.2d 853, 858-9 (Fla. 1977).

In fact, the legislature in adopting Section 95.11(4)(b) could not have intended the definition of health care provider Southwest urges. Section 95.11(4)(b) was passed as §7 of Ch. 75-9, Laws of Fla. This 1975 legislative action <u>predated</u> the adoption of the definition of health care provider which Southwest urges.

The now repealed definition of health care provider was adopted at §7, Ch. 77-64, Laws of Fla. in 1977.<sup>6</sup> It defies logic to argue the legislature's intent in using the term "provider of health care" in a 1975 limitations statute can be divined from its adoption of a collateral source statute in a later legislative session.

This Court has expressly rejected the type of analysis made by the Second District. In <u>Brown v. St. George Island</u>, <u>Ltd.</u> 561 So.2d 253 (Fla. 1990), the Court considered statutory construction questions involving the disqualification of a judge. The district court had undergone the same type of analysis as the Second District. It referred to §38.02, Florida Statutes (1989), for the meaning of "suggested the disqualification" used in §38.10. 561 So.2d at 256. This Court unanimously rejected such an analysis. It stated the legislature could not have intended Section 38.10 to refer to Section 38.02 "because Section 38.02 did not become law until ten years after Section 38.10 enacted." 561 So.2d at 256.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The definition was actually introduced in Ch. 76-260, Laws of Fla., which act was expressly superseded the following year by Ch. 77-64. The point is the same, because both were passed <u>after</u> the 1975 limitations statute.

Thus, this Court has rejected the argument that a term in an earlier statute can be interpreted by referring to a later enacted statute. Silva cited <u>Brown</u> to the Second District. While not citing <u>Brown</u>, the court apparently responded to the point in a footnote (A 5 at n. 1). It cited <u>Oldham v. Rooks</u>, 361 So.2d 140, 143 (Fla. 1978). The full sentence in <u>Oldham</u>, from which the footnote quotes a portion, is "[t]here is a general presumption that later statutes are passed with knowledge of prior existing laws, and a construction is favored which gives each one a field of operation, rather than have the former repealed by implication." This statement plainly does not refute or distinguish this Court's holding in <u>Brown</u>. In fact, it supports Silva's position.

This Court did not conclude the later statute in <u>Brown</u> repealed the earlier one. There the two statutes stood independent - each operated in its own field. Silva's argument is not that the later passed definition in 768.50 acted to repeal 95.11(4)(b). Each operates in its own field. Indeed, the fact that the legislature believed in 1977 it needed to provide a specific definition of health care providers (for collateral source purposes) which included blood banks, indicates it did not believe they were included in the commonly understood meaning of the term it had used in 1975 in §95.11(4)(b).

Both of these points are reiterated in this Court's recent opinion in <u>Baskerville-Donovan Engineers</u>, <u>Inc. v. Pensacola Executive House Condominium Association</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 16 FLW S440 (Fla. S.Ct. Case No. 76,755, June 13, 1991). <u>Baskerville</u> construed the

immediately preceding statute of limitations on professionals, section 95.11(4)(a), Florida Statutes (1983). In discussing the use of the term "privity" in the statute, the Court stated: "To the extent our recent cases may have applied a different gloss to the concept of privity for these limited circumstances, the legislature would have been unaware of it when enacting the law in 1974." This Court's unanimous opinions in <u>Brown</u> and <u>Baskerville</u> recognize that the Second District's "back to the future" approach is illogical and inappropriate for statutory construction.

Baskerville also noted the rules of construction that undefined words in statutes are to be given their plain or ordinary meaning. The Second District pointed to no indication that blood banks were within the plain or ordinary meaning of the phrase "health care provider" in 1975. In fact, the legislature's need to specifically include blood banks in the collateral source health care provider definition at a later date proves it did not believe blood banks were within the plain meaning of a health care provider.

Southwest can point to nothing in the 1975 adoption of 95.11(4)(b) proving the legislature intended to cover blood banks in the medical malpractice statute of limitations. Examining the comprehensive medical malpractice act passed by the legislature in 1975 demonstrates the legislature was not attempting or intending to address blood banks. Chapter 75-9 is a 17 page act containing 17 sections. Nowhere in the act are blood banks mentioned. By contrast, physicians, hospitals and a variety of health care

providers are specifically mentioned by name or chapter under which they are licensed. Neither blood banks nor clinical laboratories licensed under Chapter 483 are mentioned, although they were mentioned in the collateral source statute two years later. As Southwest itself has pointed out, the legislature was presumed to know of other laws existing in 1975, 7 and so could have covered clinical laboratories such as blood banks. Quite simply, there is nothing in the enactment of Section 95.11(4)(b) that remotely suggests the legislature intended to cover blood banks by its reference to "providers of health care".

The fact that the legislature felt a need in the 1977 legislation to define "health care provider" specifically, and in different ways, when it was used in different sections of a statute, further refutes Southwest's construction. By using varying specific definitions in later medical malpractice statutes, the legislature implicitly recognized that there was a narrower, plain or ordinary meaning to the undefined term "health care providers." The fact the legislature has never amended section 95.11(4)(b) to specifically redefine "providers of health care" to include blood banks is further evidence of the legislative intent not to incorporate one of the several subsequent, stylized definitions in that statute.

There was a statute predating the 1975 limitations statute which referred to health care rendered by providers of health

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Southwest's brief in <u>Smith</u> n. 14 at p. 30, citing 49 Fla.Jur.2d <u>Statutes</u> §166.

service. <u>See</u> Ch. 72-62 §1, Laws of Fla.; Ch. 73-50 §1, Laws of Fla. This statute was revised in 1977 to include a specifically enumerated definition of health care providers that did <u>not</u> include blood banks or clinical laboratories. <u>See</u> Ch. 77-461 §1, Laws of Fla. This is now §766.101, Florida Statutes (1989).

Before cutting off valuable rights, there should be some clear indication of legislative intent that blood banks were to be considered providers of health care within the meaning of §95.11(4)(b). There is none.

Silva believes that the legislative history of Section and the principles of statutory construction 95.11(4)(b) demonstrate an intent not to extend the reach of that statute to clinical laboratories such as blood banks. At a minimum, the foregoing demonstrates there was no clear legislative intent to include blood banks as health care providers in the 1975 medical malpractice limitations statute. Accordingly, the principle of resolving such doubts in favor of the longer limitation period, just rearticulated by this Court in Baskerville, is directly applicable: "Where a statute of limitations shortens the existing period of time the statute is generally construed strictly, and where there is reasonable doubt as to legislative intent, the preference is to allow the longer period of time." Angrand v. Fox, 552 So.2d 1113, 1116 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), review denied, 563 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1990) ("It is well established that a limitations defense is not favored ... and that therefore, any substantial doubt on the question should be resolved by choosing the longer rather than the shorter possible statutory period." (cites omitted)).

3. Southwest did not provide "diagnosis, treatment or care." Even if Southwest provided "medical service," that would not bring it within §95.11(4)(b).

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