# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GERALD	SILVA,	ETC.

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 77,980

SOUTHWEST FLORIDA BLOOD BANK, INC.,

Respondent.

JOHN SMITH, ET UX., ETC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 78,012

SOUTHWEST FLORIDA BLOOD BANK, INC.,

Respondent.

ON CONSOLIDATED PETITIONS TO REVIEW CERTIFIED CONFLICT FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, SOUTHWEST FLORIDA BLOOD BANK, INC.

TED R. MANRY, III
Florida Bar No. 115448
D. JAMES KADYK
Florida Bar No., 238325
MACFARLANE, FERGUSON, ALLISON
& KELLY
Post Office Box 1531
Tampa, Florida 33601
813/223-2411

ATTORNEYS FOR SOUTHWEST FLORIDA BLOOD BANK, INC.

#

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ι

There is a distinct factual difference between the decisions sought to be reviewed and <u>Durden v. American Hospital Supply Corp.</u>, 375 So.2d 1096 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979) cert. denied 386 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1980). Southwest, as a community blood bank procuring and providing blood and blood components for the specific purpose of transfusion, has been Legislatively mandated to be providing a medical service to the patient which is both necessary and an integral part of the practice of medicine. Preamble, Ch. 67-69 157, Laws of Fla. This policy is reflected in Florida's statutory and regulatory provisions.

<u>Durden</u>, on the other hand, involved hepatitis contracted by a paid donor at blood plasma center from a dirty needle. That injury did not involve the rendering of medical care to the donor, a fact recognized in Durden. Thus, no conflict exists.

II

Florida's legislative and regulatory provisions, including a clear statement of legislative public policy that blood banks supplying blood for transfusion render not only necessary medical services, but are involved in the practice of medicine and not simply a sale of a commodity, makes it evident that Southwest is a health care provider for purposes of the medical malpractice statute of limitations.

The term " any provider of health care" as utilized in \$95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes must be read in pari materia with

Florida's policy statement and statutory provisions relating to blood banks supplying blood for patient transfusion. In doing so, as did the Second District in the decision sought to be reviewed, the actual real world of the practice of medicine cannot be ignored.

It cannot be denied that the processing and providing of blood by a blood bank for purposes of a transfusion, which blood subsequently causes injury to the <u>recipient</u>, gives rise to a " . . . claim . . . for damages because of . . . injury . . . arising out of any medical . . . diagnosis treatment or care by any provider of health care.". §95.11(4)(b), <u>Fla. Stat.</u>

III

If Southwest is not a direct health care provider it is certainly within the scope of the privity provision of §95.11 (4) (b) Florida Statutes. There is a contract privity and an identity of interest between the blood bank and the hospital/doctor with respect to the patient and the mutual goal to effectuate treatment and cure.

IV.

Neither <u>Smith</u> nor <u>Silva</u> involve the medical malpractice statute of repose. In each of these cases, the presence of HIV anti-bodies in the blood stream was detected well before the two year statute of limitations ran. The statute of repose is constitutional in any event.

#### ARGUMENT

Ι

THERE IS NO CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISIONS SOUGHT TO BE REVIEWED AND DURDEN V. AMERICAN HOSPITAL SUPPLY CORP., 375 So. 2d 633 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979, cert. denied, 386 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1980), WHICH IS THE ONLY DECISION CERTIFIED AND PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT FOR CONFLICT CONSIDERATION.

This Court's jurisdiction rests solely on the Second District's certification of conflict with <u>Durden v. American</u>

<u>Hospital Supply Corp.</u>, 386 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1980). Art. V,

§3(b)(3), Fla. Const. (1980); Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(a)(vi).

The <u>Silva</u> Initial Brief attempts to make a perfunctory argument regarding alleged conflict with <u>Brown v. St. George Island, Ltd.</u>, 561 So.2d 253 (Fla. 1990) and <u>Baskerville-Donovan Engineers</u>, Inc. v. <u>Pensacola Executive House Condominium Association</u>, Inc., 16 F.L.W. S440 (Fla. June 13, 1991). (<u>Silva Initial Brief</u>, p. 38). Silva did not invoke this Court's jurisdiction under Article V, § (b) (3), Florida Constitution (1980), as implemented by Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030 (a)(2)()A)(iv): i.e., non-certified conflict.

It is respectfully submitted that such a separate and distinct invocation of this Court's jurisdiction is required, as is inherently recognized in Fla. R. App. P., 9.120 (d). Neither Art. V, \$3 (b)(3), nor Fla. R. App. P., 9.030 (a)(2) grant jurisdiction in this Court to review decisions on its own motion. As such, only the asserted conflict with Durden need be discussed. Nevertheless, Silva's assertion of conflict with Brown and Baskerville is inherently fallacious under the standards which govern this Court's conflict jurisdiction. Silva v. Southwest does not enunciate a rule of law which expressly and directly conflicts with Brown or Baskerville, nor does it involve the same controlling facts as Brown or Baskerville. (Infra, pp. 20-27).

Under the constitutional prerequisite of express and direct conflict, one of two situations must clearly appear: (1) an announced rule of law which conflicts with other appellate or Supreme Court expressions of law; or (2) an established rule of law is applied to produce a different result in a case which involves the same controlling facts as the prior case. E.g., Nielsen v. City of Sarasota, 117 So.2d 731, 732 (Fla. 1960); Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1958). Essentially, jurisdiction exists only if the essential effect would be that the case sought to be reviewed overrules the case cited for conflict. Ansin, supra, at 811. The Second District's perception of a conflict between the cases sought to be reviewed and Durden is thus clearly misplaced.

The Second District is correct in holding that the preamble to Chapter 69-157, Laws of Florida and the Legislature's treatment of blood banks mandates that a community blood bank such as Southwest be declared and held to be within the term "any provider of health care," when providing blood for transfusion to a patient, as that term is used in \$95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes. However, it failed to recognize the primary factual distinction between the cases sought to be reviewed and Durden.

<u>Durden</u> involved a <u>paid donor's</u> action against a commercial blood donor center after <u>he</u> contracted hepatitis. The Third District refused to apply the medical malpractice statute of limitations to that situation. While correctly acknowledging that

a blood center is a "health care provider" for some distinct factual circumstances, <u>Durden</u> recognized that in <u>taking</u> the blood from the <u>seller/donor</u> in that case, and injuring the <u>seller/donor</u>, the plasma center was not rendering care or treatment to a <u>patient</u> or even providing a medical service to the <u>"donor"</u>. Thus, the donor does not have a medical malpractice cause of action.

Certainly, the paid donor's injury did not arise out of any medical diagnosis, treatment or care by any provider of health care, or anyone in privity with a provider of health care, as contemplated by \$95.11 (4)(b), Florida Statutes:

An action for medical malpractice shall be commenced within two years from the time the incident giving rise to the action occurred or within two years from the time the incident is discovered or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence;

\* \* \*

An "action for medical malpractice" is defined as claim in tort or in contract for damages because of the death, injury, or monetary loss, to any person arising out of any medical, dental, or surgical diagnosis, treatment or care by any provider of health care. The limitations of actions within this subsection shall be limited to the health care provider and persons in privity with the provider of health care. (Emphasis added).

This fact was recognized in <u>Durden</u>'s holding that the plasma center was not rendering care or treatment to the donor:

Construing Section 95.11(4)(b) in its plain and ordinary sense, it is apparent that more

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Southwest never claimed that <u>Durden</u> was wrongly decided. Of course, this Court would be free to determine that <u>Durden</u> was wrongly decided if properly presented with the issue. However, such a determination is not necessary in this case.

than just the fact that a party defendant is a health care provider is required to bring a cause of action within this two-year statute In addition, the claim for of limitations. damages must arise as a result of medical, dental or surgical diagnosis, treatment or care on the part of the health care provider. See Jackson v. Biscayne Medical Center, Inc., 347 So.2d 721, 722 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977). Durden sold his blood to American. There was no diagnosis, surgical medical, dental or treatment or care rendered by American to The relationship contemplated by the subject statute of limitation is in the nature (dentist)-patient or hospitaldoctor in contrast to the vendor-vendee patient (Emphasis relationship in the case at bar. added).

[375 So.2d at 1099].

In this respect, the <u>Durden</u> Court did not have to address the following provisions of the preamble of Ch. 69-157, Laws of Florida, or other statutory and regulatory provisions as addressed by the Second District, <u>Silva v. Southwest</u>, at 505-506, in order to determine whether the specific activities and relationship in that case met the otherwise <u>undefined term</u> " . . . <u>any provider of health care</u>" as envisioned by §95.11 (4) (b). Of course, <u>Durden does not even evidence that Court's awareness of these provisions</u>.

As the Second District's opinion in <u>Silva v. Southwest</u> at 505 cogently notes, the Legislature's public policy statement embodied in the enacting provisions of Chapter 69-157, amending §672.316, Florida Statutes (1967) and creating the "blood shield statute," authoritatively established that, <u>as to the patient recipient</u>, the activities leading to the <u>transfusion</u> of blood are not merely the sale of a product, but constitute the rendition of a necessary medical service which is "... an intricate part of the practice

of medicine. . . ". This policy statement predated the enactment of the two-year medical malpractice statute of limitations: 3

WHEREAS, the procurement, processing, storage, distribution, or use of whole blood, plasma, blood products, and blood derivatives, for the purpose of injecting or transfusing the same or any of them, into the human body provides the general public with a desirable and necessary medical service, and

\* \* \*

WHEREAS, the rendering of this service is an intricate part of the practice of medicine, and

\* \* \*

WHEREAS, the continuance of the operation of community and private blood banks provides the citizens of Florida with a service which might otherwise have to be provided by the State of Florida, and

WHEREAS, the public policy declared by this enactment is a Legislative prerogative, NOW, THEREFORE, . . . (Emphasis added).

Indeed, the difference is recognized in the statutory provisions relating to blood transfusions<sup>4</sup> which Petitioners seek to ignore. For example, the definitions of "donations" and "transfusions" contained in §381.601 (b) and (k) of the "Florida Blood Transfusion Act," predate the transfusion in these cases and provide:

Florida did not separately define medical malpractice until 1975, and there was no distinction whatsoever between medical malpractice and any other negligence prior to 1974. Ch. 75-9, §7, Laws of Fla. §95.11 (4) (a), Fla. Stat. (supp. 1974); amended, §95.11 (4)(b), Fla. Stat. (1975), effective May 20, 1975.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>Also</u>, the definition of a clinical laboratory, which a blood bank is, in §483.041(1), <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, (1989). Quoted <u>infra</u>, p. 32.

"Donations" means any transaction involving the person from whom blood is withdrawn, whether he presents himself for the withdrawal of blood on his own initiative or on the initiative of another person, in which he receives no consideration other than credit through blood assurance programs or other intangible benefits.

\* \* \*

"Transfusion" means the use of blood in which the blood is administered to a human being <u>for treatment of sickness or injury</u>. (Emphasis added).

§381.601(2)(h) defines a "paid donor" to mean " . . . a person who donates blood and who seeks payment in return. . .".

The medical procedures directly related to the entire process of transfusion for the benefit of the recipient patient is the bright line difference between the <u>Durden</u> situation and the present situation. The Legislature has patently recognized that the activities as related to the transfusion of the patient, which would include breaches of duty in procuring the blood such as a failure to screen the donor, is medical care and treatment of human beings. §381.601 (2) (a), Florida Statutes further strengthens this definition by excluding from the term "blood" "... blood derivatives manufactured or processed for industrial use."

The Second District's decision in <u>Silva v. Southwest</u> simply lost sight of this essential dividing line in its reading and analysis of <u>Durden</u> and the word "procurement" in the preamble. It failed to recognize that the present cases involve medical procedures directed to <u>transfusion services to the patient</u> as an integral part of the practice of medicine. <u>E.g., Silva v.</u>

Southwest, at 506.

There is no "direct or express" conflict between the decisions sought to be reviewed and <u>Durden</u>. The decisions sought to be reviewed represent decisions of the first impression by the Second District Court of Appeal. Accordingly, this Court should dismiss this action for lack of jurisdiction.

II.

SOUTHWEST, IN ITS ACTIVITIES AS A PROVIDER OF BLOOD FOR TRANSFUSION, IS A HEALTH CARE PROVIDER FOR THE PURPOSE OF THE MEDICAL MALPRACTICE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

The fact that Petitioners attempted to bring a non-medical malpractice action against Southwest and could not sue the doctor or hospital because of \$95.11(4)(b), is not determinative of whether Southwest in procuring, testing (including the screening of donors and the testing of the blood itself) and processing blood for the purpose of transfusion to the recipient, is rendering "... any medical . . . diagnosis, treatment or care by any provider of health care," for the purposes of \$95.11(4)(b).

Ignoring the preamble, quoted <u>supra</u>, p. 11, Petitioners attempt to argue that the blood shield statute, §672.316(5), Florida Statutes, (1967) created only a "legal fiction," as it were, by "simply" eliminating actions for strict liability or pure breach of warranty. However, the preamble is a controlling statement of public policy which is wholly within the Legislature's domain. Van Bibber v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Insurance Co., 439 So.2d 880, 883 (Fla. 1983); American Liberty Insurance Company v. West and Conyers Architects and Engineers, 491 So.2d 573, 575

(Fla. 2nd DCA 1986).

As they did below, Petitioners attempted to gain some comfort from the fact that the blood shield statute preserves limited contract actions. This fact does not affect the application of \$95.11(4)(b) any more than do the allegations of inadequate screening of donors or the testing and monitoring of the cryoprecipitate, or the failure to warn of the risks of cryoprecipitate, as alleged in the Petitioners' Complaints.

\$95.11(4)(b) applies to any suit, whether in tort or contract.

C.f., Shiels v. Jack Eckert Corporation, 560 So.2d 361 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1990). Insofar as \$95.11(4)(b) is concerned, the Legislature could have prohibited all actions sounding in contract or warranty, preserving only negligence actions based on the same standard of care. The purpose of the statute parallels the express recognition of the fact that, insofar as the entire transfusion process as it relates to the patient recipient is concerned, blood banks are an integral part of the practice of medicine. The blood shield statute provides a limited contractual cause of action for any malpractice based upon the prevailing, available and current scientific knowledge and procedure. If this standard is breached, a cause of action exists. However, the cause of action must be brought within two years.

In fact, the elimination of such "product" actions as strict liability was intended to bring blood banks in line with hospitals under the common law's recognition that in administering transfusions, hospitals are rendering medical care and treatment,

and were not involved in the sale of a product. Howell v. Spokane

<u>& Inland Empire Blood Bank</u>, 114 Wash. 2d 42, 785 P.2d 815, 820-822

(Wash. 1990); see also, McKee v. Cutter Laboratories, Inc., 866

F.2d 219 (6th Cir. 1989).

It is evident that the Petitioner's attempt to circumvent and ignore the preamble of Chapter 69-157 rests on an attempted isolation of the term "medical service." As previously noted in Argument I, with reference to the policy statement's term "procurement" of blood products, the policy statement must be read as a whole:

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